
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
January 10, 2011 

 
 
The special workshop meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Vice Chairman 
William Cotey at 7:02 p.m. at the Village Hall. 
 
Members present:  Vice Chairman William Cotey, Scott Adams, Robert Guarnaccio, Walter Oakley, 
and Kurt Schultz. 
 
Members absent:  Chairman Mark Moore and Andy Robinson. 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 
Planner; Karen Marren, Associate Planner; and Heather Rowe, Economic Development Coordinator. 
 
Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Guarnaccio, to approve the November 22, 
2010, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 
 
Motion carried 5 - 0. 
 
Commissioner Adams moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to approve the December 13, 
2010, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 
 
Motion carried 5 - 0. 
 
WORKSHOP DISCUSSION: 
 
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, presented the Comprehensive Plan update 
subject matter to the Plan Commission.  He stated that members of MainStreet Libertyville and the 
Village of Libertyville Economic Development Commission were present.  He stated the discussion 
will focus on three areas of the Downtown Sub Area Plan beginning with the northern one-third 
(1/3).  He stated that since the adoption of the 2005 Comprehensive Plan update there has been a 
Settlement Agreement with the owners of the Trimm property that outlines a requirement to include 
130 dwelling units at the time of its development.  He stated that for the central area of the 
downtown there has been the construction of the parking deck at the southeast corner of Brainerd and 
Lake Streets.  He stated that Staff anticipates that the surface lot adjacent to the parking deck will 
undergo improvements during the summer of 2011.  He stated that the School Street residential 
project is currently under construction and doing very well.  He stated that regarding the southern 
one-third of the downtown that a past parking study has indicated a need for another public parking 
facility.  He stated that there has been interest shown in redeveloping the Mil-Park Plaza located at 
the northeast corner of Park Avenue and Milwaukee Avenue.  He stated that the former Shell station 
site has been demolished and re-graded as a site ready for development. 



Minutes of the January 10, 2011, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 2 of 5 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey asked what the zoning district is for the Trimm property.  Mr. Spoden stated 
that the Trimm property is zoned R-8, Multiple Family Residential District and that the Settlement 
Agreement is open to various housing types provided that at least 15% of the dwelling units are 
affordable. 
 
Commissioner Oakley stated that if the Bolander Park parcel should be redeveloped that 
consideration should be given to creating a connection between it and the downtown. 
 
Mr. Spoden agreed that the Bolander parcel and the downtown would make a nice connection. 
 
Commissioner Adams stated that consideration should be given to locating the Metra train station 
platform further west so that the train, when stopped, doesn’t trigger the crossbar across Milwaukee 
Avenue. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that by moving the train station platform further west, it may help that situation 
only during the evening commute times. 
 
Commissioner Oakley stated that he agrees with a future plan that includes a connecting drive aisle 
from the north block to the center block between the parking deck and the rear of the buildings that 
front Milwaukee Avenue. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio asked why the Trimm Settlement Agreement included 200 parking 
spaces.  Mr. Spoden stated that these spaces as outlined in the Trimm agreement are intended to 
represent relocated Metra parking spaces as the Comprehensive Plan envisions a certain amount of 
redevelopment of the current Metra parking lots.  He stated that the topography of the Trimm 
property and its size may accommodate structures up to four (4) stories tall, but not eight (8) as 
previously shown the Village Board a few years ago as a concept by another developer.  He stated 
that the owner of the downtown theater has shown interest in redeveloping the theater site, but the 
current Comprehensive Plan states to keep it. 
 
Mr. Jeff Lovinger, MainStreet Libertyville board member and downtown property owner, stated that 
there is a high demand for residential rental units in the downtown.  He stated that he would like to 
see another parking deck on the east side. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that the 500 block on the east side is substantially prohibitive due to property 
ownership issues and lack of land area to enable a parking deck as large as the one constructed on the 
west side. 
 
Commissioner Guarnaccio stated that consideration could be given to relocating some of the current 
downtown tenants to other areas of the Village in order to accommodate additional parking. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey stated that the Libertyville Crossings commercial development missed an 
opportunity by not incorporating into the plan cross access easements. 
 



Minutes of the January 10, 2011, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 3 of 5 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that Staff can present density projections for certain areas of the downtown to the 
Plan Commission. 
 
Mr. John Cortesi, Economic Development Commission, stated that consideration should be given to 
creating a database to include all of the gross leaseable areas available in the Village. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey stated that he supports the preservation of the downtown movie theater and 
that consideration should be given to using it for live performance theatrical plays as well.  He stated 
that the planning for the demand of rental property should be considered.  He stated that the density 
projections suggested by Staff is a good idea for Plan Commission review. 
 
Mr. Cortesi stated that the Comprehensive Plan should also take into consideration public safety 
issues relative to street crossings and other pedestrian way safety issues. 
 
Commissioner Oakley stated that the Downtown Sub Area Plan should include connections to the 
Lake County Farm property at the northwest corner of Winchester Road and Milwaukee Avenue and 
to the Bolander Park land area. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey stated that more pedestrian and bicycle path planning is needed.  He stated that 
he agrees that a parking deck is needed on the east side of Milwaukee Avenue.  He stated that there 
needs to be a right-of-way vehicular cut-through from Newberry to Lake Street at the intersection of 
Milwaukee Avenue and Lake Street. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that Staff will come back to the Plan Commission with conceptual ideas for the 
central part of downtown. 
 
Commissioner Oakley asked about the disposition of the Foulds factory.  Mr. Spoden stated that the 
Foulds factory is located in the East Side Industrial area and not part of the Downtown Sub Area 
Plan.  He stated that the Foulds building could be a live-work type of facility; however, the Village 
Board would like to see the Foulds factory stay in the Village. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey asked about the disposition of the AT&T building and its parking lot.  Mr. 
Spoden stated that AT&T is very protective of its own parking lot. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey stated that smaller and more frequently used parking lots should be considered 
for the east side.  Mr. Spoden stated that the current Comprehensive Plan update calls for smaller 
parking decks on the east side. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey asked why the AT&T building is located in the downtown.  Mr. Spoden stated 
that they house equipment there.  He stated that the next Comprehensive Plan update should identify 
alternative parking deck locations. 
 
Commissioner Schultz stated that the Cook Apartment building parking lot and the AT&T parking 
lot should be considered for Village parking deck locations. 



Minutes of the January 10, 2011, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 4 of 5 
 
Mr. Lovinger stated that the existing deck just recently constructed was built in a space that was 
available, not necessarily where it is needed.  He stated that two smaller decks on the east side would 
be better. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey stated that he favors the zero (0') foot setback for building from the front 
property line in the downtown. 
 
Commissioner Adams asked about the disposition of the railroad right-of-way easement.  Mr. 
Spoden stated that I.D.O.T. owns that right-of-way and it currently incorporates the JAWA utility 
line.  He stated that this easement could be used for additional parking. 
 
Commissioner Oakley inquired about the disposition of the Mil-Park commercial center.  Mr. 
Spoden stated that the Village has had some discussions with interested parties to re-develop the 
Mil-Park site. 
 
Ms. Heather Rowe, Economic Development Coordinator, stated that consultants have been looking 
at the Mil-Park site rather aggressively and asking about its maximum capacity for building height 
and parking.  She stated that various concept plans have been discussed, but there has been no formal 
submittal to the Village. 
 
Commissioner Oakley stated that the St. Joseph school has a concern about the Mil-Park commercial 
center expanding as they are immediately north and use the Mil-Park parking lot in the rear. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that that the zoning for the Mil-Park provides a maximum building height of three 
(3) stories. 
 
Vice Chairman Cotey stated additional language could be included in the Comprehensive Plan 
update that would provide additional development standards for the Mil-Park commercial parcel 
specifically to help ensure a well thought-out and appropriate development for that corner.  He stated 
that that corner is a gateway into the downtown and should be given its proper consideration. 
 
Commissioner Schultz stated that he agrees that it should be planned as a gateway and not just a 
CVS. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that Andy Robinson has resigned his 
Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals member position.  Mr. Spoden stated that Mr. 
Robinson should be appreciated for the hours he has given to the Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals and that he was always well-prepared for each meeting. 
 
Chairman Cotey stated that he and the Plan Commission wish Andy Robinson their best regards. 
 
Commissioner Oakley moved and Commissioner Adams seconded a motion to adjourn. 



Minutes of the January 10, 2011, Plan Commission Meeting 
Page 5 of 5 
 
Motion carried 5 - 0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:33 p.m. 


